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 NOMINATION OF THE DAVID WILMOT PUBLIC SCHOOL TO THE 
PHILADELPHIA REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 

PHILADELPHIA HISTORICAL COMMISSION 
 

 
1. ADDRESS OF HISTORIC RESOURCE:                      1736 Meadow Street (Current Address) 

  Postal code: 19124                                  Maria D. Quinones-Sanchez, 7th Councilmatic District. 

                             BRT/OPA # 778228000                                  PARCEL MAP 88-N-15 / LOT — 150  

 

 
            2. NAME OF HISTORIC RESOURCE 

 Historic Name: Wilmot Secondary School—Colored, Wilmot Consolidated School—Colored 

            Common Name: Wilmot Public School. Aka. J.C. King Educational Building 

 

 
3. TYPE OF HISTORIC RESOURCE 

  X Building       Structure             X Site                    Object 

 

 
4. PROPERTY INFORMATION 

  Condition:  excellent X good              fair   poor  ruins 

  Occupancy:  occupied     vacant   under construction  unknown 

  Current use: Plans for the J.C. King Educational Building are in flux (to the best of my knowledge) 

 

 

            5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION:        Plot plans and written descriptions of the boundary. - Attached 

 

 
6. DESCRIPTION  - All materials are attached on paper and in electronic form on CD (MS Word format)  

 

 
7. SIGNIFICANCE 

Please attach the Statement of Significance: Attached. 

Period of Significance: as a dedicated African American School -1874 to ____ School closed in 1929. 

Date of construction: 1874. Alteration: 1908 See: Attached Documentation 

Architect, engineer or designer: Lewis H. Esler, upon plans of James C. Sidney & Samuel Sloan 

Builder, contractor: William Keas, contract is approved on the 25th March 1874 for (6,900) dollars.1 

Original owner: Burgesses & Inhabitants of Frankford Borough followed by the City of Philadelphia.  

            

                                                 
1
 Ordinances and Joint Resolutions of the City of Philadelphia. From January 1, to December 31, 1874. Philadelphia, Pa., King & Baird, 

Printers. 1874. 129-130. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://archive.org/stream/ordinancesofcity1874phil#page/129/mode/1up>. 

https://archive.org/stream/ordinancesofcity1874phil#page/129/mode/1up
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            CRITERIA FOR DESIGNATION: 

The historic resource satisfies the following criteria for designation (check all that apply): 
X (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural 

characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person 
significant in the past; or, 

 (b) Is associated with an event of importance to the history of the City, Commonwealth or Nation; 
or, 

X (c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or, 
X (d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or, 
X (e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work 

has significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of 
the City, Commonwealth or Nation; or, 

 (g) Is part of or related to a square, park or other distinctive area which should be preserved 
according to an historic, cultural or architectural motif; or, 

 (h) Owing to its unique location or singular physical characteristic, represents an established and 
familiar visual feature of the neighborhood, community or City; or, 

X (i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; or 
X (j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community. 

 

 
8. MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES  - Bibliography Attached   

 

 
9. NOMINATOR: Joseph J. Menkevich                                   Email: Menkevich.Research@gmail.com 
 

            Member of HSP & The Free Library of Philadelphia                Date 18th Jan., revised 5th Feb. 2016 

 4740 Castor Avenue, Philadelphia, Pa. 19124                         Telephone: 215-289-0365 

 Co-Nominators: Leon Brantley  

            Rosemary Clayton, African Americans in Northeast Philadelphia, (posthumous).  

 Nominator  is X is not the property owner. 

 

PHC USE ONLY 

Date of Receipt:_______________________________________________________________________ 

 Correct-Complete  Incorrect-Incomplete  Date:_________________________________ 

Date of Notice Issuance:_________________________________________________________________ 

Property Owner at Time of Notice 

 Name:_________________________________________________________________________ 

 Address:_______________________________________________________________________ 

 ______________________________________________________________________________ 

 City:_______________________________________ State:____ Postal Code:_________ 

Date(s) Reviewed by the Committee on Historic Designation:____________________________________ 

Date(s) Reviewed by the Historical Commission:______________________________________________ 

Date of Final Action:____________________________________________________________________ 

  Designated   Rejected             3/16/07            

  

mailto:Menkevich.Research@gmail.com
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5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION           — Nomination Begins On This Page — 

             Parcel No. 88N15—150                                                                 1736 Meadow Street 

 
   Aerial View of The Wilmot School. Web. <http://www.phila.gov/water/swmap/Parcel.aspx?parcel_id=16142>.   
 
NOTE: The last deed of record, which recites a boundary, was executed on the 28th August 1957. 
Comparing various deeds and calculating approximate measurements achieve current boundaries.  
Deed Abstract & records from Philadelphia — Law Department are attached in section 8. Bibliography.                                                        

http://www.phila.gov/water/swmap/Parcel.aspx?parcel_id=16142
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           5. BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 
 
             Parcel No. 88N15—150                                                                 1736 Meadow Street 

         

            PARCEL EXPLORER <http://www.phila.gov/applications/parcel.html>. (Accessed: 26th October 2015). 

All THAT CERTAIN LOT or piece of ground with the two story Building thereon erected Situate in 
the Twenty-third Ward of the City and County of Philadelphia, State of Pennsylvania, bounded and 
described in accordance with a survey made by Amos B. Engle, Surveyor and Regulator 8th Survey 
District of Philadelphia and dated March 11, 1944, to wit: 
 
BEGINNING at the intersection of the southwest side of Meadow Street (forty feet wide) and the 
north-west side of Mulberry Street (forty feet wide) and north-west side of Mulberry Street (forty feet 
wide)  
 
Thence extending along the said Mulberry Street South fifty-three degrees one minute thirty seconds 
West one hundred and eighteen feet four and three-eights inches  
 
Thence extending North forty-eight degrees nine minutes fifteen seconds West seventy-eight feet 
 
Thence North forty-two degrees twenty-seven minutes fifty-eight seconds East seventeen feet three 
and one eighth inches  
 
Thence extending North fifty-two degrees twenty-six minutes thirty seconds West seventy-nine feet 
eleven and one-eighth inches  

 
Thence extending North thirty-six degrees nineteen minutes forty-eight seconds East ninety-three 
feet six inches to the Southwest side of Meadow Street  
 
Thence extending along same South fifty-one degrees forty-four minutes twelve seconds East one 
hundred and eighty-nine feet ten and one-eighth inches to the place of beginning.  
 
UNDER AND SUBJECT to certain building restrictions and agreements as now appear of record.2 
 
[NOTE: The Second Baptist Church of Frankford sold land to the Philadelphia Housing Development 
Corporation. That area must be deducted and a new boundary measured].3  
 

                                                 
2
Philadelphia Deed Book: CAB.767.589 John M. Marquess Lodge No.1017, I.B.P.O.E. of W. of Frankford, Incorporated under the Laws 

of the State of Pennsylvania, GRANTOR, AND, The SECOND BAPTIST CHURCH OF FRANKFORD, Incorporated under the Laws of 

the State of Pennsylvania, Grantee. [Note: this is the last deed of record measuring the full school grounds]. 
3
 In 1975, the 2

nd
 Baptist Church of Frankford sold off a substantial part of the land, which created several new adjacent parcels. Those 

parcels became new housing, rendering the above-recited boundaries inaccurate. See: measurements of non-contributing parcels below. 

http://www.phila.gov/applications/parcel.html
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SUBTRACT ALL THAT CERTAIN lot or piece of ground: 
 
SITUATE in the 23rd Ward of the city of Philadelphia described as follows to wit: 
 
BEGINNING at a point formed by the Northwesterly side of Mulberry Street (40 feet wide) and the 
Southwesterly side of Meadow Street (40 feet wide) 
 
Thence extending South 53 degrees 1 minute 30 seconds West along the said Northwesterly side of 
Mulberry Street the distance of 118 feet 4-3/8th inches to a point;  
 

                        

Thence North 48 degrees 9 minutes 15 seconds West 78 feet 0 inches more or less to a point;  
 
Thence North 42 degrees 24 minutes 3 seconds East 17 feet 2 inches to an angle point;  
 
Thence North 64 degrees 3 minutes 3 seconds East 35 feet 11-¼ inches more or less to an angle point; 
  
Thence North 36 degrees 37 minutes 34 seconds East 60 feet 1-½ inches more or less to a point on the 
said Southwesterly side of Meadow Street; 
  
Thence South 51 degrees 44 minutes 12 seconds East along the said Southwesterly side of Meadow 
Street 92 feet 10-¼ inches more or less to a point on the said Northwesterly side of Mulberry Street being 
the first mentioned point and place of beginning 
 
BEING a part of the same premises which John M. Marquess Lodge No. 1017, I.B.P.O.E. of W. of 
Frankford, a Pa. Corp. by Deed dated 8/28/1957 and recorded in Philadelphia County in Deed Book C.A.B. 
767 page 589 conveyed unto The Second Baptist Church of Frankford, Incorporated, its successors and 
assigns.4  
 
BEING 1736 Meadow Street, a five-sided irregular parcel with a perimeter measuring 374.9 feet, 
comprising an area of 9,113 Sq. feet. [Measurements appear on the next page]. 
 

                                                 
4
 From Philadelphia Deed Book DCC.858.373, The Second Baptist Church of Frankford to the Philadelphia Housing Development 

Corporation, on 09 May 1975. [Note – Parcel Explorer MARKED IN RED ABOVE, containing approximately 9,186.7 square feet]. 
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                                   BRT/OPA # 778228000                                  PARCEL MAP 88-N-15 / LOT — 150 

The above Illustration & measurement provided by City Of Philadelphia: Perimeter of 375 ft., Area of 9,113 Sq. Ft. 

         Measurements below are in Segments using Philadelphia Parcel Explorer - done by the nominator. 

 
        Segment 1 = 60.9 ft., Segment 2 = 42.0 ft., Segment 3 = 77.5 ft., Segment 4 = 98.7 ft., Segment 5 = 95.8 ft. 
 
        Total length = 374.9 ft., and Area of 9,113.6 Square Feet. 
 
Conclusion – Segments are accurate because the footage & area are nearly identical with those of City of Phila. 
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           6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

 

            Architectural Style: 

 

The David Wilmot Public School For Coloured Children was built in 1874 upon an Italianate 
design presumably of Lewis H. Esler (1819-1883), architect of the Philadelphia Board of Public 
Education. Esler is listed as the architect for many Philadelphia schools erected during the 
1870s and 1880s, although it is unclear whether he actually designed the structures erected 
under his supervision. It is known that Esler had employed such architects as James C. Sidney. 
The Italianate style began in England as a reaction to the rigid formalism that had come to 
dominate nineteenth-century architecture. 

 

Northern Facade: 

 

Figure 1                                   Photo: 1st November 2015 – Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich 

 
The style was a popular one used primarily for houses between 1840 and 1880. Much of the 
style’s popularity can be credited to architect Andrew Jackson Downing, whose own Italianate 
building designs were featured in two books he published: Cottage Residences (1842) and The 
Architecture of Country Houses (1850). Widely read by designers and the public alike, his 
influential book set off a wave of Italianate building around the country.  
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            6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

 
The Northern facade contains the main entrance to the building. It is a structure that is four bays 
wide and rises two stories in height. The fabric throughout is of uncoursed and roughly cut 
ashlar. The bays originally had four-over-four sashes, but were altered during the late twentieth 
century by reducing their size to contain one-over-one sashes. All bays on this facade have 
brownstone sills with relieving arches above.  
 

             

           Northern Facade:  

 

            
             Figure 2, Wilmot School, Meadow & Mulberry 4th April 1908 – DOR Archives Asset ID 44005 <www.phillyhistory.org/>. 

 
There is a brownstone belt course that connects the brownstone relieving arches of the cellar 
bays and which encircles the building on all facades. The roof extends by a wide eave 
throughout. A pediment gable that is more Classical Revival in style than Italianate, was 
originally centred.  With the addition added in 1908, this pediment gable appears off-centre in its 
appearance. Included just beneath the aforementioned gable is an oxeye window trimmed with 
brownstone and having four keystones set in quarterly sections. According to period 
photographs taken in 1908 prior to the erection of the addition, it is revealed that the main 
entrance originally had a set of double paneled-doors with a transom. 

 

 

http://www.phillyhistory.org/
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           6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

 

             

            Northern Facade:  

 

 

            
            Figure 3, Edmunds, Franklin Davenport. 1874-1948 – Photographer – 12th March 1913 – Courtesy: Free Library of Phila. 
 

 
Again, the entrance, like the bays, has been partially infilled to accommodate a smaller single-
hung door. The top of this entrance has a brownstone-relieving arch. Now concealed by a 
wooden sign is a moulded concrete plaque that had the name of the school in relief letters and 
the date of its construction. 
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           6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

 
 

 
There is also an original cast-iron fence before the main entrance, which also runs along the 
Eastern perimeter of the property. But their counterparts on the South and West boundaries no 
longer exist. At the base of the right-side gatepost is an inscription in relief letters, “A. L. Smith & 
Co. 3443 Chestnut St. Phila.”  

 

             
               Figure 4                                     Photo: 1st November 2015 – Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich 
 

 
Very little information may be found on an A. L. Smith & Co. of Philadelphia: 

 
A strike was threatened by the workmen on the new Federal Building in Brooklyn, 
because the contractors for the iron work, A. L. Smith & Co. of Philadelphia, had two 
non-union men at work. The trouble was settled by the two men joining the union. 
When this was done the walking delegates went a step further in their demands and 
asked that a representative of the firm come from Philadelphia and enter into a formal 
agreement not to employ non-union men. After a conference between the delegates 
and Superintendent Booth a settlement was reached and the men went to work. 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

                                                 
5
 Williams, David. The Iron Age, Volume 47.  April 23, 1891. 782. N/P. No Metadata. Web. 11 Jan. 2016. <https://books.google.com/>.  

https://books.google.com/
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           6. DESCRIPTION                                                                     Description Written by John Charles Manton.      

 

 

            Eastern Facade:  

 

             
             Figure 5, Wilmot School, Meadow & Mulberry 4th April 1908 – DOR Archives Asset ID 44007 <www.phillyhistory.org/>. 

 
 
The above photo shows the original elevations of the Eastern facade of the building prior to the 
June 1908 addition. The structure behind the building is possible storage shed or outhouse. 
 
The schoolyard contained a single-mast nautical flagpole. On the opposite side of the Meadow 
Street is a white picket fence,6 which enclosed the remnants of the Public Burial Ground, which 
still contained visible gravestones. 7 
 
In the foreground is a vacant lot (part of the existing burial ground), was latter acquired by the 
City of Philadelphia for the use of the Wilmot Public School. See: Bibliography. 

 

                                                 
6
 An Ordinance appropriating $250 to build a fence around the Frankford burial ground. Published: The Evening Telegraph. 30 April 

1869, pg.7., Col 2. Web. 2 Feb. 2016. <http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn83025925/1869-04-30/ed-1/seq-7/>. 
7
 Appropriation paying the Caretaker of Frankford Burial Ground, three hundred (300) dollars. See: Ordinances of the City of Philadelphia 

1908. 414. Web. 2 Feb. 2016. <https://archive.org/stream/ordinancesofcity1908phil#page/414/mode/1up>.  

 

http://www.phillyhistory.org/
http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn83025925/1869-04-30/ed-1/seq-7/
https://archive.org/stream/ordinancesofcity1908phil#page/414/mode/1up
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          6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

 

 

            Eastern Facade:  

 

 

            
              Figure 6,                  Image Courtesy of Historical Society of Frankford Photo Collection8 
 

 
An addition to the Wilmot School building, at the Southwest corner Meadow and Mulberry 
Streets, in the Twenty-third Section (2 divisions), awarded June 30, 1908, to Lynch Bros., for the 
sum of $15,573.9   
 

  

 
 

 

                                                 
 
8
 The Wilmot Public School  colored, built in1874 – Photo taken by E. L. Morgan, February 1912. 

 
9
 The Ninth Annual Report of the Board of Public Education, First School District of Pennsylvania, Volume 90. For the year ending 

December 31, 1908. Philadelphia School District. Board of Public Education. Philadelphia 1909. Walter Printing House. 98. Web. 10 Oct. 

2015. <Google Books>. 
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           6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

 
 

            Eastern Facade:  

 
 

 
               Figure 7                                   Photo: 1st November 2015 – Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich 

 
 
The Eastern facade rises two stories in height and is presently four bays wide with the bays 
being flush with each-other. All lintels and sills of these bays are of brownstone.   
 
The bays have been infilled and smaller windows with one-over-one sashes were installed. The 
roof’s eave, belt course, and fabric of the facade are already described in this document.  
SEE: Northern Façade and figure # 2 on page 8 of this document. 
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           6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

 

Southern Facade:  
 

 

 
               Figure 8                                   Photo: 1st November 2015 – Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich 

 
 
Originally consisting of one bay in width on each floor this facade (as seen in Figure 5), was 
severely altered during the 1908 construction of the aforementioned addition.   
 
It is now three bays in width two doors having brownstone lintels opening onto an iron fire 
escape. A door on the first floor level has been cut out and several concrete steps installed as a 
fire exit.  
 

IMPROVEMENTS IN SCHOOL BUILDINGS. In 1879 the first fire-proof stairways, a feature 
of school buildings required by ordinance of City Councils, passed in May, 1877, were 
placed in the new school buildings. Marked improvements in the general construction of 
school buildings followed. Addison Hutton, a leading architect, prepared plans for a 
number of school-houses arranged in accordance with modern ideas as to light, ventilation 
and safety.10 

 

           

                                                 
10

 Custis, John T. The Public Schools of Philadelphia: Historical, Biographical, Statistical. Philadelphia: Burk & McFetridge Co, 1897. 

33. Web. 11 January 2016. <https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/32/mode/2up>. 

https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/32/mode/2up
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  6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

Southern Facade:  
 

 
               Figure 9                                   Photo: 1st November 2015 – Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich 

 
There is a oxeye window trimmed with brownstone and having four keystones set at quarters in 
its circumference, which is included just beneath the roof gable and used to permit air into a 
crawlspace under the roof. Again the fire escape is apparent.  
 
In 1882, there were several City Ordinances introduced regarding fire escapes and fire safety 
equipment including telegraph connected fire alarms with the fire department.11 
 

             
                              In 1883, Lewis H. Esler Made a List of Unsafe Schools12                                              

                                                 
11

 Ordinances of the City of Philadelphia. From January 1, to December 31, 1882. Philadelphia, Pa., J. Spencer Smith, Printer. 1883. 17-

22, 34, 334. Web. 11 January 2016. <https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1882phil>. 
12

 The_Times_Sun__Mar_4__1883. Web. 1 Feb. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/52223162/>. 

https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1882phil
https://www.newspapers.com/image/52223162/
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           6. DESCRIPTION                                                                      Description Written by John Charles Manton. 

Western Facade:  
 

 
Figure 10                                   Photo: 1st November 2015 – Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich 
 
The Western facade is four bays in width and rises to a height of two stories. At its extreme left 
is a pavilion devoid of windows.   
 
Period 1908 photographs reveal a facade once being three bays in width with brownstone sills 
and relieving arches. In an attempt to be symmetrical with the design of the Eastern facade, two 
of the bays were joined by the inclusion of a fourth.   
 
This trinity-bay includes a iron lintel to support the weight of the facade. Again, all bays have 
been reduced in size by the infilling of their uppermost sections to accommodate smaller one-
over-one sash replacements. One of the cellar bays has been permanently infilled with concrete. 
The roof’s eave and belt-course have been previously described above. 

 
[Lewis H. Esler served as the first Superintendent of Buildings from 1867 to 1883 and directed the design of 

schools during these years. Esler adopted Sidney's exterior designs and incorporated Sloan's plan for 

interiors. Most of Esler 's interior plans closely followed Sloan's design by using a large room with moveable 

partitions on each floor and separate stairways and entrances on the sides. … Only toward the end of his 

career did Esler change the Sloan plan significantly.]13  

                                                 
13

 Moak, Jefferson M. National Register of Historic Places Inventory - Public Schools. August 1988. Item 8 Page 3. Web. 03 Feb. 2016. 

<http://www.phmc.state.pa.us/Portal/Communities/BHP/MPDFs/philadelphia_public_schools_MPS.pdf>. 

http://www.phmc.state.pa.us/Portal/Communities/BHP/MPDFs/philadelphia_public_schools_MPS.pdf
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SLOAN’S PLAN  
                                                        Sloan’s Front Elevation of a School House14   

                    

                                 
                                      Sloan favored North/South orientation in the design of his schools15 

                                                 
14

 Sloan, Samuel. The Model Architect: A Series of Original Designs for Cottages, Villas, Suburban Residences, Etc., Accompanied by 

Explanations, Specifications, Estimates, and Elaborate Details ; Prepared Expressly for the Use of Projectors and Artisans Throughout 

the United States. In Two Volumes, Vol. I. Philadelphia: E.S. Jones & Co., 1852. 72. Web. 02 Feb. 2016. 

<https://archive.org/details/modelarchitectse01sloa>. 

https://archive.org/details/modelarchitectse01sloa
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SLOAN’S PLAN 
                                                            Sloan’s Plan of a School House 

                 
 
                                          PHILADELPHIA SCHOOLS BUILT ON SLOAN’S PLAN 

                                        
                                              James Forten Elementary Manual Training School16   

                                                                                                                                                                                           
15

 Image Courtesy of:    <https://www.nachi.org/building-orientation-optimum-energy.htm?loadbetadesign=0>. 

 
16

 Custis, John T. The Public Schools of Philadelphia: Historical, Biographical, Statistical. Philadelphia: Burk & McFetridge Co, 1897. 

190. Web. 11 January 2016. <https://archive.org/details/publicschoolsofp00custrich>. 

https://www.nachi.org/building-orientation-optimum-energy.htm?loadbetadesign=0
https://archive.org/details/publicschoolsofp00custrich
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PHILADELPHIA SCHOOLS BUILT UPON SLOAN’S PLAN 
 
 
 

                                       
                                                     Octavius V. Catto Secondary School —Colored 17 
 
 
 
                                        
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
17

 Ibid. Custis, John T. The Public Schools of Philadelphia: <https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/266/mode/2up>. 

https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/266/mode/2up
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                                                     Henry Herbert Secondary and Primary School18  

                                      

                                 
.                                         C.W. Schaeffer Combined Secondary and Primary Schools19 
 

                                                 
18

 Ibid. Custis, John T. The Public Schools of Philadelphia: <https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/402/mode/2up>. 
19

 Ibid. Custis, John T. The Public Schools of Philadelphia: <https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/390/mode/2up>. 

https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/402/mode/2up
https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolsofp00custrich#page/390/mode/2up
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 Today: ADAPTIVE REUSE PROPOSAL FOR CW SCHAEFFER SCHOOL  
 
                                     An Historically Significant School Building in Germantown  

 
 Photo Courtesy of: <http://issuu.com/anthonyarnone9/docs/anthonyarnone__schaefferschoolpropo_60bd62dddf350d>. 
 

                         321 Lombard Street - Saint Peter's School – 3 Story, 4-Bay, Rubble-Coursed Ashlar 

         
<http://www.phillyhistory.org/PhotoArchive/Detail.aspx?assetId=85532>         Above Right Photo Courtesy of Google Maps 

               

http://issuu.com/anthonyarnone9/docs/anthonyarnone__schaefferschoolpropo_60bd62dddf350d
http://www.phillyhistory.org/PhotoArchive/Detail.aspx?assetId=85532
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                                                The Muhlenberg School 20  – Designed by Lewis Esler 21 

                              

                                  
                      Now Called the National Temple Baptist Church - Photo above courtesy of Google Maps 
 

                                                 
20

 Photo Courtesy: <http://www.phillyhistory.org/PhotoArchive/Detail.aspx?assetId=128747>. 
21

 Moak, Jefferson. National Register of Historic Places Inventory - Public Schools. August 1987 

<http://www.dot7.state.pa.us/CRGIS_Attachments/SiteResource/H094825_01D.pdf>. 

http://www.phillyhistory.org/PhotoArchive/Detail.aspx?assetId=128747
http://www.dot7.state.pa.us/CRGIS_Attachments/SiteResource/H094825_01D.pdf
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7. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE  
 

The Wilmot Public School Building is an extremely significant historic African American School 
Building, which merits designation and inclusion on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places, which 
will assure preservation through enforcement by the Philadelphia Historical Commission. 
 
The Wilmot Public School Building satisfies Criteria for Designation a, c, d, e, i, & j as enumerated in 
Section 14-1004 of the Philadelphia Code:  
 
(a) Has significant character, interest, or value as part of the development, heritage, or cultural 
characteristics of the City, Commonwealth, or Nation or is associated with the life of a person 
significant in the past;  

 
(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style; or, 
 
(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or, 
 
(e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work has 
significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of the 
City, Commonwealth or Nation; or,  

 
(i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in pre-history or history; and  
 
(j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social, or historical heritage of the community. 
 

The Wilmot Public School Building is currently listed on National Historic Register under Criteria A, Education. 

Nominated in 1987 as one of only a few remaining schools buildings of its time period and architecture, it still 

remains relatively intact. It has not suffered any serious mutilation. The National Register also states: “The 

nominated property contains the building and all historically associated land.” 22   

 

Records from Philadelphia’s Legal Department (in the attached bibliography) affirm an existing deed restriction 

involving the Public Trust of the Frankford Public Burial Ground, which has never been addressed or resolved.   

For the aforementioned reasons, this Nomination is intended to assure protection for the Wilmot School Building, 

the cemented schoolyard which surrounds the building, all subsurface space below the schoolyard and all the 

subsurface space below the school building to the center of our planet Earth (as in mineral rights & split estates).23 

 

“Pennsylvania law recognizes three discrete estates in land: the surface estate, the mineral estate, and 
the right to subjacent (surface) support. … Subsurface owner's rights cannot be diminished because 
the surface comes to be owned by the government, or any party with statutory obligations, regardless 
of their salutary nature. A ‘regular’ surface owner cannot unilaterally impose extra conditions on the 
subsurface owner beyond those that are reasonable.”24 
 

A separate nomination to the Commission is in progress seeking Historic Designation & protection for several 

other parcels comprising the Frankford Public Burial Ground, which are not being addressed in this nomination. 

 

                                                 
22

 Moak, Jefferson M. Wilmot Public School.Thematic Nomination. 1984. Web. 11 Jan. 2011. 

<http://www.dot7.state.pa.us/CRGIS_Attachments/SiteResource/H094824_01D.pdf> 
23

 Split Estates: Web. 05 Feb. 2016 <http://www.wsmtlaw.com/cms-assets/documents/129546-236263.00194839.pdf>. 
24

 Pennsylvania v. Seneca Resources, 2014. Web. 05 Feb. 2016. <http://caselaw.findlaw.com/pa-commonwealth-court/1655829.html>. 

http://www.dot7.state.pa.us/CRGIS_Attachments/SiteResource/H094824_01D.pdf
http://www.wsmtlaw.com/cms-assets/documents/129546-236263.00194839.pdf
http://caselaw.findlaw.com/pa-commonwealth-court/1655829.html
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AFRICAN AMERICAN EDUCATION IN FRANKFORD: THE FRANKFORD COLOURED SCHOOL  
 
Franklin Davenport Edmunds published that the Frankford Coloured School was established in 1811 on the West 

side of Meadow St., North of Mulberry Street; that it was removed and replaced by the Wilmot School in 1874.25  

The Wilmot School was built on the opposite side of the same Public Burial Ground, where it still stands today. 

 

                           The Public School Buildings of the City of Philadelphia – F. D. Edmunds - 1913 

                      

                                       Accessed Philadelphia City Archives 19 Nov. 2015 

4th Nov. 1839 

The Committee to consult the Solicitor with regard to leasing A small portion of the Public Burial Ground, for 

the use of the Coloured School, Report that duty performed And also presented a release from the 

Assignees of the late Nathan Harper which was Approved.26  

Money to build a school house was collected by George Lockwood, an intelligent colored man, who went 

from house to house soliciting subscriptions for the purpose.  On May 10, 1840, the Borough of Frankford 

leased to James C. Watson, Samuel Morris, William Chase, Jr., Jeremiah Young and William Taylor, 

trustees of the African Colored School, a part of the public burial ground on the south side of Meadow 

street, 25 feet front by 105 feet deep… 27  

 

                                                 
25

 Edmunds, Franklin D. The Public School Buildings of the City of Philadelphia. Philadelphia [Pa.: F.D. Edmunds, 1913. 37-39. Web. 15 

Nov. 2014. <https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolbui00educgoog#page/n52/mode/2up>. 
26

 Burgesses of Frankford Minute Books – Accessed: Philadelphia City Archives. 22
nd

 April 2015. 
27

 Wright, Eleanor E. Frankford's First Schools. Historical Society of Frankford. 1905. 126. Web. 31 July 2014. 

<https://archive.org/stream/papersreadbefore11hist#page/126/mode/2up/search/colored>. 

https://archive.org/stream/publicschoolbui00educgoog#page/n52/mode/2up
https://archive.org/stream/papersreadbefore11hist#page/126/mode/2up/search/colored


 25 

Below: Minutes Books of the Burgesses of Frankford, Accessed Philadelphia City Archives 22nd April 2015 

.                                                                                 

                                                               1844 Controller’s Report 28 

                     
                                                       

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
28

 Twenty-sixth Annual Report of the Controllers of the Public Schools of the City and County of Philadelphia, Composing the First 

School District of Pennsylvania, for the Year Ending June 30, 1844: With Their Accounts. Philadelphia: Published by order of the Board 

of Controllers. Mifflin & Parry, Printers. 1844. 50. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://books.google.com/books>. 

 

https://books.google.com/books?id=QAwTAAAAIAAJ&pg=PA32&dq=%22UNCLASSIFIED+SCHOOLS%22+%22FRANKFORD+COLORED%22&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwiLzZyO26PKAhWCVj4KHQwdDiEQ6AEILzAA#v=onepage&q=%22UNCLASSIFIED%20SCHOOLS%22%20%22FRANKFORD%20COLORED%22&f=false
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                                                    1855 Controller’s Report 29 

                     

                                                                    

 

                                                                   1867 Controller’s Report 30 

 

 

In 1872, Philadelphia had five night schools open for the Black Men and Women, they were: 

 

The James Forten School Building, 6th Street, above Lombard. 

The Robert Vaux Public School Building, Randolph Street, above Parrish. 

The Bethany Colored Night School in the Public School House, Brandywine Street above 15th (First Year). 

The Colored Night School in the Public School Building, Chestnut Street above 42nd (First Year). 

The Public School Building Meadow and Cherry Streets, Frankford (First Year). 31             

                                                 
29

 Thirty-seventh Annual Report of the Controllers of the Public Schools of the First School District of Pennsylvania Comprising the City 

and County of Philadelphia, for the Year Ending December 31, 1855: With Their Accounts. Philadelphia: Published by order of the Board 

of Controllers. Mifflin & Parry, Printers. 1856. 91. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://archive.org/details/bub_gb_47cY0PiESm4C>. 
30

 Fourty-ninth Annual Report of the Board of Controllers of the Public Schools of the First School District of Pennsylvania, Comprising 

the City and County of Philadelphia, for the Year Ending December 31st, 1867: With Their Accounts. Philadelphia: Published by order of 

the Board of Controllers. E.C. Markley & Sons, Printers. 1868. 180. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. 

<https://archive.org/details/annualreportcon02schogoog>. 
31

 Fifty-Fourth Annual Report of the Board of Public Education of the First School District of Pennsylvania, Comprising the City and 

County of Philadelphia, for the Year Ending December 31st, 1872: With Their Accounts. Philadelphia: Published by order of the Board. 

1873. 59-62. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://books.google.com/books>. 

https://archive.org/details/bub_gb_47cY0PiESm4C
https://archive.org/details/annualreportcon02schogoog
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                      1872  - Frankford’s Colored School Held Classes for Men and Women                

                                 

 

 

22nd May 1873  - Submitted a communication from the Board of Public Education, requesting the 

privilege of erecting the new schoolhouse for colored children at Frankford, Twenty-third Ward, 

upon the centre of the public lot on the south side of Meadow street, instead of upon the western 

end of the site of the present building. (Appendix No. 200.) And the same having been read, Moved 

that the communication be referred to the Committee on Schools. Which was agreed to.32  

 

 

6th April 1874 – RESOLUTION: To approve contract and surety of William Keas, for the erection of 

a school house on the south side of Meadow street near Cherry street, in the Twenty- third Section. 

Resolved by the Select and Common Councils of the. City of Philadelphia, That the contract of 

William Keas, bearing date March 25th, 1874, for the erection of a school house on the south side 

of Meadow street near Cherry street, in the Twenty-third School Section, being in the Twenty-third 

Ward of the City of Philadelphia, for the sum of six thousand nine hundred (6,900) dollars is hereby 

approved, and John Cocker is also approved as surety in the bond conditioned for the faithful 

performance by the said William Keas of his said contract. Approved.33 

 

                                                 
32

 Journal of the Select Council, of the City of Philadelphia, From January 1, 1873 to July 1, 1873, With An Appendix. Philadelphia. Pa.: 

K.C. Markley & Son, Printers, 1873. 388, 429, 466, 504, 523. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://books.google.com/books>.  
33

 Ibid. Ordinances and Joint Resolutions of the City of Philadelphia. From January 1, to December 31, 1874. F/n # 1, page 1. 

https://books.google.com/books?id=gqNIAQAAMAAJ&pg=PA388&lpg=PA388&dq=%22Submitted+a+communication+from+the+Board+of+Public+Education,+requesting+the+privilege+of+erecting+the+new+schoolhouse+for+colored+children+at+Frankford,+Twenty-third+Ward,+upon+the+centre+of+the+public+lot+on+the+south+side+of+Meadow+street,+instead+of+upon+the+western+end+of+the+site+of+the+present+building.+(Appendix+No.+200.)+And+the+same+having+been+read,+Moved+that+the+communication+be+referred+to+the+Committee+on+Schools%22&sourc
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24th June 1874 - AN ORDINANCE: To authorize a change in the location of the new colored school 

house at Frankford. SECTION 1. The Select and Common Councils of the City of Philadelphia do 

ordain, That permission be and is hereby given to the Board of Public Education to change the 

location of the new school house for colored children, to be erected in Frankford, Twenty-third 

Ward, from the western end on the site of the present building, to the centre of the public lot on the 

south side of Meadow street: Provided, it be no expense to the City.34   

     

                           The Tacony                                        The Wilmot 

 
             Figure 11, Photo Courtesy of Charles A. McCloskey                     Photo Courtesy of Joseph J. Menkevich  
 

 

Report: The "Wilmot," at Cherry and Meadow Streets, Frankford, in the Twenty-third Section, a 

gray stone building of same size as the above, commenced April 10, and finished September 10, 

1874. Wm. Keas was the contractor, for $6,900. 

 

The “Tacony" School-house at Tacony, in the Twenty third Section, a two-storied brown stone 

building, with capacity for 120 pupils, commenced May 1, and finished October 5, 1874. Thomas B. 

Taylor was the contractor, for $7,344. 35 

  

                                                 
34

 Ordinances and Joint Resolutions of the City of Philadelphia. From January 1, to December 31, 1873. Philadelphia, Pa., King & Baird, 

Printers. 1874. 337 Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1873phil>. 
35

 Fifty-Sixth Annual Report of the Board of Public Education of the First School District of Pennsylvania, Comprising the City and 

County of Philadelphia, for the Year Ending December 31st, 1874: With Their Accounts. Philadelphia: Published by order of the Board. 

1875. 55, 254 Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://books.google.com/books>. [Note: The Tacony School has since been demolished]. 

https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1873phil
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1878 —This article exhibits Black Citizenry’s distain with Philadelphia Public Schools’ treatment of Blacks. 

 

        

August 29, 1878 

PHILADELPHIA MATTERS.  

BY OUR OWN REPORTERS 

 

A PETITION is in circulation among the colored people in the vicinity of Dickinson Street for the 

Board of Education to erect a suitable schoolhouse there for a colored school. The Board is 

about to fix up a horse stable for the colored children. We do not see why a horse stable is not 

good enough for a colored schoolhouse when the teachers are all to be white. Where is the use 

of having find colored schoolhouses for white teachers to occupy? We are opposed to colored 

schools in toto, and the only mitigation to the nuisance is in having them taught by colored 

teachers. If a colored school means only another place for another white teacher, a horse stable 

is good enough for it. We have no objections to our children being taught by white teachers if 

they are taught in white schools, but we do object to their being taught by white teachers in 

colored schools. Heaven knows there are few enough opportunities for educated persons of 

color to find remunerative employment of a professional character, and surely it is little matter 

deserves the choicest watching. Another schoolhouse is wanted on Oxford Street, for which also 

white teachers are using. What in the name of peace our public-spirited men have been doing in 

the past we cannot comprehend. What! Are our Wears, our Stills, our Cromwells, our Crawfords, 

our Fortens, Doughlasses, Jacksons, Simpsons, William's, Purvises, Bolings, Mastens, 

LeCounts, Bowers, and scores on scores of others going to sit still and let these things continue 

to the shame of the vaunted intelligence of Philadelphia's colored population? Separate schools 

are only to be ended when… [Text became illegible and impossible to read]… Where is the spirit 

of the men of Philadelphia? 36 

 

 

 

                                                 
36

 THE CHRISTIAN RECORDER, August 29, 1878. Web. 13 January 2016. <http://www.accessible.com/>. 

http://www.accessible.com/
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On the 18th July 1881, the Second Baptist Church of Frankford purchased a building on Mulberry 

Street almost opposite the Wilmot Public School.37   

 

                                     G. M. Hopkins  — Atlas of the City of Philadelphia, 23rd Ward, 1887 

.       Image may be accessed via Web. <http://www.philageohistory.org/rdic-images/view-image.cfm/GMH1887.PhilaWard23.006.Plate3>. 

 

1885: “The Wilmot (Colored)” was listed as: Mixed Consolidated—2 divisions—Boys, 69, Girls, 77. Light well 

arranged. Heated by stoves. Cellar wet from every rain.38 

                                                 
37

 Philadelphia deed book JOD Vol.136 page 161 - IN TRUST for the benefit and behoove of a certain unincorporated religious 

association Known as the Second Baptist Church of Frankford. 

http://www.philageohistory.org/rdic-images/view-image.cfm/GMH1887.PhilaWard23.006.Plate3
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In 1892                                                              AN ORDINANCE 

To authorize the sale of a certain lot of ground at the west corner of Meadow and Mulberry streets, Frankford, and 
empowering the Mayor to execute a deed of conveyance thereof.  
 
Whereas, The title to all that certain lot or piece of ground situate at the west corner of Meadow and 

Mulberry streets, in Frankford, in the Twenty-third Ward of the City of Philadelphia, is vested in the City 

of Philadelphia, which said lot is described according to a survey made thereof by J. H. Webster, Esq., 

Surveyor and Regulator of the Tenth District, on April 4, 1892, as follows: Beginning at the point of 

intersection of the southwest side of Meadow street with the northwest side of Mulberry street; thence 

by the side of said Mulberry street, forty feet wide, south fifty-three degrees one minute and thirty 

seconds west forty-six feet two and a-half inches to the middle of a small stream or run of water;  

thence by the middle thereof north seventy-one degrees fifty-one minutes and thirty seconds west sixty-

two feet four and one-eighth inches to a point; thence still by the middle thereof north eighty-nine 

degrees thirty-eight minutes and thirty seconds west twenty-one feet eleven and a-half inches to other 

ground of the City of Philadelphia used as public school purposes ; thence by said lot north thirty-six 

degrees nineteen minutes and forty-eight seconds east seventy-nine feet eight inches to the side of said 

Meadow street, also forty feet wide, and thence by the side of said Meadow street south  

fifty-one degrees forty four minutes and twelve seconds east ninety feet and four inches to the place of 

beginning.39 

 

On the 10th December 1892, the Second Baptist Church of Frankford received their Charter.40 

 In 1894           

                                                                          AN ORDINANCE 41 

                                        

                                                                                                                                                                                           
38

 Journal of the Common Council, of the City of Philadelphia, From October 2, 1884, To April 2, 1885, With An Appendix. Philadelphia. 

Pa.: Dunlap & Clark, Printers, 1885. 273 of Appendix. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://archive.org/details/journalofcommoncou1884phil>. 
39

 Ordinances of the City of Philadelphia. From January 1, to December 31, 1892. AND Opinions of the City Solicitor. Philadelphia, 1893. 

Dunlap Printing Co., 1893. 310 Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1892phil>.  
40

 Philadelphia Charter Book No.18 page 447, as recited in Philadelphia deed book WSV.184.332. 
41

 Ordinances of the City of Philadelphia, 1894. 156. Web. 28 Nov. 2015. <https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1894phil>. 

https://archive.org/details/journalofcommoncou1884phil
https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1892phil
https://archive.org/details/ordinancesofcity1894phil
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1st August 1895, the Wilmot Public School had a partial collapse. 
 

COFFINS FOR A FOUNDATION.  
 
Peculiar Settling of a School House Is Now Explained.  
 
Philadelphia, Pa., August 1. - After resting for twenty-one years upon a foundation laid upon human 
skeletons the Wilmot public school, in Frankford, was yesterday discovered to be tumbling down. A 
score or more of paupers' bodies had been buried there many years ago, but everybody had forgotten 
the fact until yesterday's ghastly find recalled it to memory.  

 
Ten of the ancient paupers' skeletons were unearthed under the northwest corner of the building by 
workmen who were tearing away the foundation. It is not at all unlikely that, as a consequence of their 
discovery the whole structure will have to be rebuilt in order to make it safe. The first of the workmen to 
be shocked yesterday was Samuel H. Schaffer, who found a skull and the bones of three persons under 
the corner. He quit work in a jiffy and notified Contractor Cunningham. These bones and the skull were 
gathered together and placed in a box.  
 
About this time Building Inspector Allen came to view the progress of the work, and seeing that the 
walls were cracked still further that had previously been reported he directed that more of them be torn 
away.  
 
When Inspector Allen took a crowbar from one of the workmen and struck into the cracked wall the 
portion which fell disclosed the bones of two other persons, and later on five crumbling coffins were 
exposed, each containing a skeleton.  
 
Inspector Allen directed that further work on the building should cease until he could report the case to 
the board of health and to his chief, Mr. Haddock. 
 
Wilmot school is a four-division school two stories high, built of blue stone and is separately used for 
colored children. It has a male principal and female assistant teacher, both of whom are also colored.  
 
The school was built in 1874 by the late Patrick Wheelin, a contractor of Frankford, on that portion of the 
old Potter's field located on the south side of Meadow Street, between Cherry and Mulberry streets. 
This field, covering in all about two acres of ground, had been a burying ground since the early days of 
the present century, and was well filled up with the poor and unknown dead.  
 
Some three years ago the school building began to settle and crack at the northwest corner, until it had 
sunk about a foot. This year the sectional board got an appropriation to have the whole corner torn 
down and rebuilt, and it was during this progress of this work that the skeletons were found. The whole 
foundation of the school appears to rest on this under-pinning of skeletons, and the ground around is 
honeycombed with graves.  
 
When Meadow Street was cut through the burying ground, many years ago, it passed over graves 
flattened by time; but when some seven years ago a sewer was put in the street, there were a number 
of bodies taken up and reburied. 
 
The discovery of the skeletons yesterday created a sensation among the superstitious colored people 
whose homes are all around there. The son of the janitress, Mrs. Andrews, who assists her in taking 
care of the fires in winter time, turned almost white with fear when he looked down into the deep 
excavation into the cellar at the corner and saw the ends of five coffins protruding from the earth. He 
found his voice, however, and exclaimed: Here I'se been gwine down that cellar at night in de dark to 
put coal on de fire: but you bet I'm not gwine down dar any mo.42 

                                                 
42

 The Wichita Daily Eagle: Friday, Aug.2, 1895, p.3. Web. 14 Oct. 2015. <http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82014635/1895-08-

02/ed-1/seq-3/>. Note: Information verifying Patrick Wheelin as being the building contractor of this school has not been located. 

http://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/sn82014635/1895-08-02/ed-1/seq-3/
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                                                                6th August 1895 43 

                                         
               
                                                                             7th August 1895 

                                        
 

The front foundation of the Wilmot public school, at Meadow and Cherry streets, Frankford, is according 
to Building Inspector Allen, honeycombed with coffins and unsafe.  
 
The Bureau of Building Inspection condemned the foundation yesterday and notified the Board of 
Education that the building will have to remain unoccupied until repairs are made.  
 
A crack in one of the corners of the wall led to the investigation by inspectors, and on making an 
examination to discover the cause of the parting bricks it was discovered that a portion of the foundation 
rested upon rock while another part had been built upon clay, beneath which several coffins containing 
corpses were found by the workman.  
 
The inspector thinks more bodies are interred beneath the school wall.44 

                                                 
43

 The_Times_Tue__Aug_6__1895. Web. 14 Oct. 2015. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/52579814/>. 
44

 The_Times_Tue__Aug_7__1895. Web. 14 Oct. 2015.  <https://www.newspapers.com/image/52579829>. 
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                               Bromley Atlas of the City of Philadelphia, 23rd & 41st Wards, 1920   

                                        

                                            Accessed Philadelphia City Archives 24th Nov. 2015 

 

On the 28th May 1901, for the sum of One Thousand Dollars, the Second Baptist Church of Frankford purchased a 

building lot. It is the same location on which the present church now stands.45  

                

 

                                                 
45

 Philadelphia deed book JV vol.268 page 477, William H. H. Achuff to Second Baptist Church of Frankford. 
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29th October 1902, the residents of Frankford were ordered to use Wilmot School.46 

 

                              

 

 

1907 — Overcrowding of the Wilmot Public School was not specifically stated, but an addition was ordered, as the 

Board of Education of the City of Philadelphia had been paying the Second Baptist Church of Frankford an annual 

rental of $335 to use their basement as an annex of the Wilmot School.47 

 

 

 

The addition to the Wilmot School building, at the Southwest corner Meadow and Mulberry Streets, in the Twenty-

third Section (2 divisions), was awarded June 30, 1908, to Lynch Bros., for the sum of $15,573.48 

 

 

 

                                                 
46

 Philadelphia Inquirer 10-29-1902, pg.16. Free Library of Philadelphia. Web. 10 Jan. 2016. <http://infoweb.newsbank.com/>. 
47

 Eighty-Ninth Annual Report of the Board of  Public Education of the First School District of Pennsylvania, Comprising the City of 

Philadelphia, for the Year Ending December 31, 1907: Philadelphia, Pa., Walther Printing House. 1908. 62, 72, 95, 159. Web. 28 Nov. 

2015. <https://archive.org/details/annualreport10boargoog>. 
48

 Ibid. The Ninth Annual Report of the Board of Public Education, First School District of Pennsylvania, Volume 90. For the year ending 

December 31, 1908. Philadelphia School District. Board of Public Education. Philadelphia 1909. See: F/n # 9, of page 12. 

http://infoweb.newsbank.com/
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7. Other significant persons: Gertrude E. H. Bustill, Assistant Principal, Eugenia Marks, Janitrix 

                

Gertrude E. H. Bustill (1855-1948) came from a family of luminaries. She was a distinguished journalist, 

schoolteacher, woman’s rights advocate and author. She married Nathan Francis Mossell (1856-1946), the first 

African-American graduate of the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine. He established the Frederick 

Douglass Hospital. His younger brother, Aaron Albert Mossell would be the first African American to graduate from 

Penn's Law School. Aaron’s daughter, Sadie Tanner Mossell Alexander was the second African-American woman 

to receive a Ph.D. in the United States, and the first woman to receive a law degree from the University of 

Pennsylvania Law School. She was the first African-American woman to practice law in Pennsylvania.49 

 

                                                                      Gertrude with her children 50 

                            

 

                                                 
49

 Penn Biographies: Web. 21 Dec. 2015. <http://www.archives.upenn.edu/search.html?q=Mossell>. 
50

 N.F. Mosell. The Work of the Afro-American Woman. Philadelphia: Geo. S. Ferguson Co, 1894. Web. 21 Dec. 2015. 

<https://archive.org/details/workofafroameric00moss>. 
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       Ironically, the tribute goes to Gertrude rather than to Nathan for founding the Frederick Douglass Hospital.51 

                       

.           7. Other significant persons: Eugenia Marks 52  (note: misprint, as salary was $100 a year).                                                                                                                        

 

                                                 
51

 Historical Markers. Web. 21 Dec. 2015. <http://www.hmdb.org/Marker.asp?Marker=81928>. 

http://www.hmdb.org/Marker.asp?Marker=81928
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                          Mrs. Eugenia Marks (1802-1885) was a former Slave of Thomas Jefferson.  

 

She was a waiting maid at his great mansion and frequently waited upon the distinguished visitors. She was 

present at the death of Jefferson and heard his last words; unfortunately she was left a slave. She left Monticello 

for Washington D.C. to serve as a slave to Mrs. Randolph, Jefferson’s married daughter. There she met and 

married one Peter Marks who had been the body servant to President James Monroe, but was now living at the 

U.S. Arsenal at Washington D.C. with a Major Albert Mordecai. Peter Marks purchased his wife’s freedom with a 

$250 loan from Major Mordecai. The Major was soon transferred to the U.S. Arsenal in Frankford, Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania. Mr. Peter & Mrs. Eugenia Marks came with him to the Frankford Arsenal and permanently settled in 

the Frankford area.53 She died at her residence on Brown Street, Frankford, in her 83rd year.54  Eugenia Marks’ 

name appeared in the Christian Recorder among the many contributors who funded the construction of a new 

church building for the A.M.E. Church of Frankford:  

Ladies' list: Margaret Chase, $5,85, Elizabeth M. Tillman, 5.00, Jane Ann Murray, 5.00, Esther Callayhan, 

3.00, Agnes Spencer, 3.00, Rebecca J. Bedford, 2.50, Elizabeth Butler, 2.50, Melvina Chase, 2.40, Julia 

Jackson, 2.00, Serena Harrison, 2.00, Ellen Barrett, 2.00, Rebecca Ackoe, 2.00, Margaret Davis, 2.00, 

Rachel Ackoe, 2.00, Margaret Thompson, 2.00, Abigail T. Washington, 2.00, Julia Watson, 2.00, Mary Ann 

Davis, 1.50, Emily Allen, 1.50, Susan Blackson, 1.25, Elizabeth Pleasants, 1.25, Letita Bowser, Elizabeth 

Smith, Eugenia Marks, Jane Hawkins, Elizabeth Pleasants, Isabella Washington, Araminta Davis, Patience 

Weldon, Margaret Jeffers, Keziah Harrison, Nicey Allen, Josephine Chamberes, Susan Watson, Nancy 

White, Harriet Hollen, Maria Tunnel, Mary Hollen, Cueby Purnel, Anna Brake, each $1.00; Mary Lewis, 50 

cts., Siss Chase, 50 cts., George Pleasants, 4.00, Charles Brinkley. Also several white gentlemen who 

have subscribed and paid from $15, $25, and $50 to push on the work of the edifice.55  

                                                                                                                                                                                           
52

 Pittsburgh_Daily_Post_Wed__May_21__1873. Web. 21 Dec. 2015. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/87616200/>. 
53

 Padgett, James A. "The Life of Alfred Mordecai As Related By Himself." The North Carolina Historical Review, Vol. XXII., No.1 

January 1945. 96-97. Web. 22 Dec. 2015. <https://archive.org/stream/northcarolinahis1945nort#page/96/mode/2up>. 
54
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55

 Collection: African American Newspapers, THE CHRISTIAN RECORDER, October 8, 1870, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Web. 22 

Dec. 2015. <http://www.accessible-archives.com/>. 

https://www.newspapers.com/image/87616200/
https://archive.org/stream/northcarolinahis1945nort#page/96/mode/2up
http://www.newspapers.com/image/53054066/
http://www.accessible-archives.com/


 39 

           Other significant persons:    Mrs. Mary S. Chase Beckett 

                                             

 

Mrs. Mary S. Chase Beckett, daughter of Elias and Malvina S. Chase, born in Holmesburg, 

Philadelphia Pa., moved to Frankford, Pa., where there were better school facilities.  Graduating 

from the Wilmot Public School, she entered Robert Vaux School, 12th and Wood streets. The 

Rev. John Wesley Beckett, D.D., a widower & son-in-law of Bishop Jabez P. Campbell, married 

Mary S. Chase in 1890 as Catherine Stella Campbell Beckett had passed way in 1888. She also 

served without salary, as the corresponding secretary of “The Woman’s Parent Mite Missionary 

Society.” She wrote ten thousand letters, which inspired twenty two thousand women. 56  

 
 

                                                 
56

 Wright, Richard R, and J R. Hawkins. Centennial Encyclopaedia of the African Methodist Episcopal Church: Containing Principally 
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For the Christian Recorder:  
The Advantages of a Good Education. 
By Mary S. Chase. 
      
Read before the closing exercises of Wilmot Public School, Frankford, June 28th 1878. 
      
To be educated, does not only consist in knowing how to read, write and spell.  
 
Children who go to school regularly soon learn these elementary branches, but they are not 
educated. 
      
Education is the act of developing and cultivating the various physical, intellectual faculties and also 
the formation of manners and improvements of the mind.  
 
The mother begins her progress of training with the infant in her arms.  
 
She leads it along the years of childhood and youth, and hopes to have it well fortified by knowledge 
and experience to meet the contentions of life.  
 
It is from her that the child receives its first impression whether for weal or woe. And oh how much a 
mother can do if she is what she ought to be. 
      
      “Tis education forms the common mind; As the twig is bent the tree is inclined.” 
      
Wealth may be left to use by our parents or relatives, but education must be acquired by our own 
exertion, or we must lack it forever.  
 
Wealth may be obtained at an advanced time of life, but if education is neglected in youth, it will be 
found almost impossible to make up the lost time.  
 
How important is it, then, to make the best of youth to study and lean all we can. “For a moment lost 
is gone forever.” 
      
We do not have to look far to see persons who willingly waste these precious moments by idly 
standing on the street corner instead of being at home reading good and useful books, or at school 
endeavoring to make up for time trifled away in boyhood.  
 
No, they would rather stand upon their dignity of ignorance, to become a nuisance to society and an 
encumbrance to the universe.  
 
No matter what may be the fortune or hopes of a young man, he has no right to live a life of 
idleness.  
 
All persons, whether in the highest position or lowest depths of degradation, have their influence 
over others which may lead to good or evil.  
 
“The evil that men do live after them but the good is often buried with their bones.”  
 
Solomon says, “Give instruction to a wise man and he will be yet wiser; teach a just man and he will 
increase in learning.”  
 
Frankford, Pa.57  

 

                                                 
57

 Collection: African American Newspapers, THE CHRISTIAN RECORDER, October 10, 1878, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Web. 25 

Dec. 2015. <http://www.accessible-archives.com/>. 

http://www.accessible-archives.com/
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Other significant persons: Caroline R. LeCount (1846-1923) 
 

Miss Caroline R. LeCount, one of Philadelphia’s Black Elite tested the 1867 law desegregating Philadelphia's 

trolleys - the law won through William Still's crusade.58   

 

For nearly fifty years, LeCount worked at the Ohio Street School. During this time, she was also a 

leading advocate of African American teachers in the city. In August 1891, when the city was 

looking for a new principal for the Wilmot Colored School in Frankford.59  60  

                                      

 
 

                                                 
58

 Philadelphia's Black Elite In The Shadows Of History 1840-1940. (1988). Web. <http://articles.philly.com/1988-02-

08/news/26243256_1_black-elite-black-world-white-hospitals> 
59

 LeCount, Bio. Web. <https://exhibits.library.villanova.edu/institute-colored-youth/graduates/caroline-lecount-bio/>. 
60

 The_Times_Mon__Aug_31__1891. Web. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/53397947/>. 

http://articles.philly.com/1988-02-08/news/26243256_1_black-elite-black-world-white-hospitals
http://articles.philly.com/1988-02-08/news/26243256_1_black-elite-black-world-white-hospitals
https://exhibits.library.villanova.edu/institute-colored-youth/graduates/caroline-lecount-bio/
https://www.newspapers.com/image/53397947/
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Other significant persons: John M. Marquess Junior – Activist 

 

AT AUCTION BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF PUBLIC EDUCATION  

TUESDAY. APRIL 4. 1944, AT 3 P. M. ON THE PREMISES W. Cor.  

Meadow and Mulberry Sts — The Wilmot School, lot 189 x 118 ft. irregular 61 

 

On the 5th of June 1944 the School District of Philadelphia sold the Wilmot Public School to John M. 

Marquess Lodge No.1017 I.B.P.O.E of W. of Frankford.62 He was the son of John Miller Marquess, who 

graduated Dartmouth College in 1904 and in 1916 became the president of the Colored Agricultural and 

Normal University in Langston, Oklahoma. While in Pennsylvania John Marquess (the senior) became an 

integral member of the Republican Party. He became leader of the Eastern Federation of Negro 

Republicans and fought for the rights of blacks. At the 1932 Republican National Convention, he seconded 

the nomination of Herbert Hoover. At the 1936 Republican National Convention, he stated: “unless we 

reject the theory that the world can be reformed by legislative enactment, we shall see a dictatorship in 

America; and dictatorship would ruin the Republic and set my people back a hundred years.” 63 

 

John M Marquess, Jr. like his father was a member of the Improved Benevolent Protective Order of Elks of 

the World. 

                                                     August 22, 1942 

                                     Philadelphia Elks Waiting For The Bell 

 

PHILADELPHA, Pa. Plans all made to hair trigger fineness the several thousands of Elks of 

Philadelphia eagerly await the sound of the gavel on August 23 when Grand Exalted Ruler J. Finley 

Wilson pound the table with his gavel and announce the official opening of the 43rd annual 

convention of the Antlered Herd. The sessions for the, men will be held at the beautiful O. V. Catto 

Auditorium, 16th and Fitzwater streets, perhaps the most beautiful fraternal home owned by 

American Negroes. … Cooperating with the arrangements are the other four Lodges: John M. 

Marquess 1017; Quaker City 720; Chris J. Perry 965; L. C. Irvin, 984; and the seven Temples, 

Phyllis Wheatley 81; Quaker City 73; Keystone 448; Levert, 653; Pride of North Philadelphia. 637; 

Carolyne B. Irwin 673, and Pride of Northeast 689…64 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
61

 Saturday, 25 March 1944. The Philadelphia Inquirer. Web. 14 Dec. 2015. <http://fultonhistory.com>. 
62

 Philadelphia Deed Book CJP vol. 853 page 561. 
63

 Dartmouth.edu, Web. 25 Dec. 2015. <http://sites.dartmouth.edu/blacksportingexperience/john-miller-marquess-04/>. 
64

 August 22, 1942, The New York Age from New York, New York, pg. 4. Web. 25 Dec. 2015. 

<http://www.newspapers.com/image/40878839/>. 

http://fultonhistory.com/
http://sites.dartmouth.edu/blacksportingexperience/john-miller-marquess-04/
http://www.newspapers.com/image/40878839/
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Belated But Monumental Move Sixty Years Later, A Memorial To Black Soldiers Will Go On The Parkway. 

 
The All Wars Memorial to Colored Soldiers and Sailors, which has occupied an obscure spot behind 

Memorial Hall since it was dedicated in May 1934, will be moved to the Benjamin Franklin Parkway at 

20th Street, next to the Franklin Institute and the Academy of Natural Sciences. The owner of the 

Delancey Park Apartments informed the Art Jury that it had ''some very desirable tenants living in these 

apartments, and we feel that such a statue opposite the apartments would cause us a loss of tenancy.” 

            Photo courtesy of <http://museumwithoutwallsaudio.org/interactive-map/all-wars-memorial-to-colored-soldiers-and-sailors>. 

Not to be outdone, John M. Marquess, the exalted ruler of the Quaker City Lodge of Elks, protested for 

African Americans that the proposed site was: "a wilderness in a God-forsaken section of this 

metropolitan city" populated ''in the twilight…by dirty children, drunken bums and pot hounds of sure 

mongrel strain… God forbid that we of the Negro group should stand by and permit our patriotism to be 

insulted…" 65 

                                                 
65

 29
th

 March 1994. Phila. Inquirer. Web. <http://articles.philly.com/1994-03-29/news/25850660_1_black-soldiers-sculpture-black-men>. 

http://museumwithoutwallsaudio.org/interactive-map/all-wars-memorial-to-colored-soldiers-and-sailors
http://articles.philly.com/1994-03-29/news/25850660_1_black-soldiers-sculpture-black-men
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           Other significant persons: The Second Baptist Church of Frankford 

 

The 1942 map (below) indicates the Wilmot School may have once been a Boys Club prior to the 1944 sale.66 

Records, which verify the Boy’s Club, (such as a lease or newspaper reports) have yet to be located. 

 

                                    1942 Philadelphia Land Use Map, Courtesy of Free Library of Phila.  

                                   
.                                         Web. <http://www.philageohistory.org/rdic-images/view-image.cfm/LUM1942.6C-3>. 

 

On the 28th August 1957, John Marquess Lodge No 1017, I.B.P.O.E. of W. of Frankford Inc., sold the Wilmot 

Public School Building and school-yard to the Second Baptist Church of Frankford.67 

 

                       

                                                 
66

 Phila. Deed Book CJP.853.561 School District of Philadelphia to John M. Marquess Lodge No.1017 I.B.P.O.E of W. of Frankford. 
67

 Philadelphia Deed Book CAB.767.589 John M. Marquess (Lodge No. 1017) to Second Baptist Church of Frankford.  

http://www.philageohistory.org/rdic-images/view-image.cfm/LUM1942.6C-3


 45 

        Other significant persons: Rev. Dr. J.C. King 

 

                                            From the slave fields to the pulpit 68                                                                              

 

 

The Rev. J.C. King came to the Second Baptist of Frankford in 1916: 

Members of the congregation of St. Paul's Baptist church of West Chester tendered a farewell 

reception to Rev. J.C. King on Thursday night. After having been in West Chester for twenty-two 

years, Rev. Mr. King is leaving for Frankford, Philadelphia. — 13th May 1916. 69 The name of 

Angel Visit Baptist Mission was dropped when the organization of a church was effected and the 

name of Second Baptist Church was assumed. That again gave place to St. Paul's Baptist 

Church…70  

                                            In 1945, Dr. J.C. King was 85 years old.71 

                                               
                                                 
68

 Pottstown_Mercury_Fri__Mar_13__1942. Web. 9 Jan. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/51391037/>. 
69

 Delaware_County_Daily_Times_Sat__May_13__1916. Web. 9 Jan. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/5299630/>. 
70

 West Chester, Past and Present: Centennial Souvenir. West Chester: Daily Local News, 1899. 118. Web. 9 Jan. 2016. 

<https://archive.org/details/westchesterpastp00unse>. 
71

 Pottstown_Mercury_Mon__Nov_26__1945. Web. 9 Jan. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/50711645/>. 

https://www.newspapers.com/image/51391037/
https://www.newspapers.com/image/5299630/
https://archive.org/details/westchesterpastp00unse
https://www.newspapers.com/image/50711645/
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On the 18th of June 1952, the Rev. J.C. King was listed as 100 years old and still delivering sermons.72  

On the 23rd of June 1952, Dr. King was singing with the Choir of Second Baptist Church of Frankford.73   

 

 

                                           Eleven Years Latter in 1963: Old Preacher 101 years old.74 

                                            

 

Rev. Dr. J.C. King ‘s endless youth is noteworthy, as his obituary has not been found. 

                                                 
72

 Pottstown Mercury 18 June 1952, page 21. Web. 9 Jan. 2016.  <https://www.newspapers.com/image/15918376/>. 
73

 Pottstown Mercury 23 June 1952, page 18. Web. 9 Jan. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/15918475/>. 
74

 Pottstown_Mercury_Thu__Jun_27__1963. Web. 9 Jan. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/52443188/>. 

 

 

https://www.newspapers.com/image/15918376/
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           Other significant persons: Civil War Soldiers who were African Americans 

 

Formation of a new Post of the G.A.R.  

HEADQUARTERS OF ROBERT BRYAN,  

POST NO. 80, G.A.R., No. 506 Chestnut St., Phila.   

The honorable discharged soldiers and sailors of the late war for the union assembled at their 

headquarters on Friday evening Sept. 25th, for the purpose of forming themselves in an 

organization known as Robert Bryan Post No. 80, Grand Army of the Republic, Dept. of 

Pennsylvania. Some twenty of the old veterans were present, representing nearly every colored 

regiment that left this and other cities in the Union during the Rebellion; and nominated and 

elected their officers as follows…75 

                   

                  Above:                       Harrisburg_Daily_Independent_Mon__Apr_19__1880.  76 

 

Many of the early pioneers of Campbell AME sleep in its churchyard burial ground…Yearly 

memorial services, which included the flag-raising and gun salute, were conducted each May 

30th by marching bands and uniformed War Veterans.  They then proceeded to parade to the 

other black burial ground at Meadow Street.77          

                                                 
75

 The Christian Recorder, 11 Oct. 1877. Web. 16 Dec. 2015. <http://www.accessible.com/>. 
76

 Web. 02 Jan. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/82916737/>. 
77

 History of Campbell A.M.E. Church. Web. 02 Jan. 2016. <http://www.campbellamephil.org/#!about/c13zq>. 

http://www.accessible.com/
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           Other significant persons: Civil War Soldiers who were African Americans 

 

                 Robert Bryan Post No. 80, Grand Army of the Republic Decorates Wilmot Cemetery 78          

 

 

 

                                                 
78

 The_Times_Fri__May_30__1890. Web. 2 Jan. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/52189868/>. 

https://www.newspapers.com/image/52189868/
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Conclusion 

The Wilmot Public School Building, located at 1736 Meadow Street situate within the African American Enclave 

within the community of Frankford, the 23rd Ward of the City of Philadelphia merits designation by the Philadelphia 

Historical Commission for inclusion on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places as per Section 14-1004 of the 

Philadelphia Code, for the following reasons:   

 

In 1874, William Keas (a local Frankford contractor79) received the contract and built the Wilmot Public School. A 

typical advertisement in a newspaper would read: 

 

Proposals for building a Public School House…Said School House to be built in accordance with the 

plans of L.H. Esler, Superintendent of School Buildings, to be seen at the office of the Controllers of 

Public Schools…The contract will be awarded only to known master builders…80 

 

The Wilmot Public School is built in the Italianate style architecture, which is a distinctive example of architecture 

of an early generation of public school buildings. Existing examples are rare. Its design is attributed to architect 

James C. Sidney81 working under the supervision of Lewis H. Esler.82  However various Architectural journals 

published by Samuel Sloan probably influenced both men in the design.83   

 

The Italianate style architecture and association with Esler, Sidney & Sloan, Satisfying (Criterion  

 

(a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural 

characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant in 

the past;  

 

(c) Reflects the environment in an era characterized by a distinctive architectural style;  

 

(d) Embodies distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style or engineering specimen; or,  

 

(e) Is the work of a designer, architect, landscape architect or designer, or engineer whose work has 

significantly influenced the historical, architectural, economic, social, or cultural development of the City, 

Commonwealth or Nation; as enumerated in Section 14-1004 of the Philadelphia Code).  

                                                 
79

 William Keas of Frankford used Frankford bluestone to build a church in Kensington: The Times, Philadelphia. 9 Nov. 1891. Web. 6 

Feb. 2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/53398501/>. 
80

 The Daily Evening Telegraph, Philadelphia. 28 June 1870. Web. 6 Feb.2016. <https://www.newspapers.com/image/85299078/>. 
81

 Biography from the American Architects and Buildings database: James Charles Sidney 

<https://www.philadelphiabuildings.org/pab/app/ar_display.cfm/101697>. 
82

 Biography from the American Architects and Buildings database: Lewis H. Esler. 

<https://www.philadelphiabuildings.org/pab/app/ar_display.cfm/26051>. 
83

 Biography from the American Architects and Buildings database: Samuel Sloan. 

<https://www.philadelphiabuildings.org/pab/app/ar_display.cfm/21518>. 
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Conclusion Continued:  

The Wilmot Public School was intended specifically and exclusively for the education of Black children. A Black 

principal, Black teachers and a Black janitor staffed the school. The same Black Church that once served as a 

satellite school to the Wilmot Public School, now owns this structure; it has survived for more than 142 years in 

near original condition opposite to the Second Baptist Church of Frankford - all of which is unique.  Satisfying: 

 

(j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social, or historical heritage of the community. 
 

Conclusion Continued:  

Records indicate the Wilmot School and its schoolyard are unique because they occupy space above part of its 

own community’s African American Burial Ground, as it was once the 1811 Frankford Public Burial Ground. While 

the town of Frankford developed into a steam-powered mill complex, the Public Burial Ground transitioned into an 

African American Burial Ground, because many of the mill-owners relied heavily on the local Black Labor.84  The 

Second Baptist Church of Frankford, Campbell African Methodist Episcopal Church of Frankford, and the African 

Community at large all used this burial site. Eventually, it became known as the Wilmot Cemetery and contains 

the bodies of several African American Civil War Soldiers as well as Black War Veterans of other American Wars, 

as evidenced by yearly memorial services which included the flag-raising and gun salutes that were conducted 

each May 30th & attended by marching bands and uniformed War Veterans.85  Because the City of Philadelphia 

chose to ignore Public Trust and a Deed Restriction, they built a school upon this Cemetery. The Black Population 

of Frankford, through no choice of their own, had literally received their Public Education on the backs, the bones 

and dead bodies of their own community's ancestors.  

 

AS A SITE: African American Civilians and Civil War Veterans are buried beneath the school & schoolyard. - All of 

these aforementioned things are unique.  Satisfying (Criterion    

 

(a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural 

characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant 

in the past;  

 

(i) Has yielded, or may be likely to yield information important in pre-history or history;  

 

(j) Exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community as 

enumerated in Section 14-1004 of the Philadelphia Code).86   

 

 

                                                 
84

 Williams, Henry, and Robert Ulle. Frankford, Philadelphia: A 19th Century Urban Black Community. Pennsylvania Heritage. Vol. IV, 

No.1. PHMC. (1977): 2-8. Print. Accessed Menkevich family Library.  
85

 History of Campbell A.M.E. Church. Web. 02 Jan. 2016. <http://www.campbellamephil.org/#!about/c13zq>. 
86

 Designation. Philadelphia Code § 14-1004 — Philadelphia Decoded. Web. 12 January 2016. <http://phillycode.org/14-1004/>. 
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 51 

Conclusion Continued: Furthermore, the Wilmot Public School Building merits designation by the Philadelphia 

Historical Commission for inclusion on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places as per Section 14-1004 of the 

Philadelphia Code through its unique association with the following people: 

 

Gertrude E. H. Bustill Mossell, Assistant School Principal, Poet & fundraiser for the Frederick Douglass Hospital, 

   
Eugenia Marks, former Slave of Thomas Jefferson,  
 
Mary S. Chase Beckett, Secretary of The Woman’s Parent Mite Missionary Society of the AME Church, 
 
Caroline R. LeCount, Philadelphia Public School Principal & Civil Rights Activist,  
 
John M Marquess, Jr., A Civil Rights Activist & Leader and head of the Improved Benevolent Protective Order of 
Elks of the World,  
 
Rev. Dr. J. C. King, a former Slave, become a charismatic Minister of several Baptist Churches. -  Satisfying: 

 

(Criterion (a) Has significant character, interest or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural 

characteristics of the City, Commonwealth or Nation or is associated with the life of a person significant 

in the past; or,  

 

(j) exemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social or historical heritage of the community, as 

enumerated in Section 14-1004 of the Philadelphia Code). 
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Note: In 1977, Henry Williams and Robert Ulle wrote: FRANKFORD, PHILADELPHIA A 19th Century Urban 
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[See: Attached Addendum]. 
 
In 2015, I found it rather difficult to obtain a copy, however I did find and purchase a copy. The essay contained no 
footnotes or citations to lead one back to the source materials they used in the publication.  
 
I researched this essay extensively and found it to be extremely accurate. I noticed that Williams & Ulle relied 
heavily on Census Records. I also recognized that much of their source materials came from the published papers 
of the Historical Society of Frankford, which I had also read over the last several years. 
 
It was integral in inspiring this nomination. I am including a copy in this nomination, as I believe that research is 
intended be shared, so that others may be inspired and perhaps, they too might add their own research to the 
world body of knowledge. 
 
 
J.M.  
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I am indebted and grateful to my fellow researcher & Co-Nominator, Rosemary Clayton.  

 
 
We first met at the Center for Northeast Philadelphia History, an offshoot of the Historical Society of Frankford. 
Rosemary shared much of her research. She introduced me to the publication of Henry Williams and Robert Ulle. 
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Rosemary P. Clayton was working on a book: Towards A History Of The African-American People Of Northeast 
Philadelphia, Tacony, Frankford & Holmesburg: 1619 – 1739 
 
Her book was never published, as on the 13th of June 2015, she received an unexpected call from the Author of 
Nature, who required her assistance on a more immediate project. 
 
I dedicate this nomination to Rosemary Clayton. 
 
I am also indebted my spiritual advisor and Frankford’s Black Community liaison, Co-Nominator Leon Bradley.  
 
A special thank you to Bob Smiley of the Frankford Gazette & his website: <http://frankfordgazette.com/> who 
supports several of my projects. 
 
A big thank you to Kim Broadbent and the staff of the Philadelphia Historical Commission for aiding me with 
instructions in the preparation of this nomination. 
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